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DRI 744 3 Uncas Avenue Historic Demolition & 40B Proposal

MARTHA'S VINEYARD
COMMISSION

January 24, 2024

Chair Barbara Armstrong
Chilmark Historical Commission
Chilmark Town Hall

401 Middle Road

Chilmark, MA

02535

Dear Chair Armstrong:

The Martha’s Vineyard Commission (Commission) presently has under review a demolition request for
a dwelling in Oak Bluffs as part of a 40B proposal. The subject dwelling is the Stephen Flanders House,
a 19th century, MACRIS listed structure at 3 Uncas Avenue that sits right on the corner of Uncas and
Circuit. Recently Commission staff received evidence that shows the dwelling isn’t the Stephen
Flanders House in name only, that Stephen Flanders appears to have actually owned it.

Why is this relevant to an up-Island historic commission? Well, Stephen Flanders was a whaling captain
from Chilmark. According to the Martha’s Vineyard Museum Quarterly article “Captains of Cottage
City: The Men Behind the Boom of the Bluffs” by Skip Finley, Stephen Flanders was sympathetic to Oak
Bluffs’—which was not called Oak Bluffs at the time—yearning to break free from Edgartown. Flanders
ultimately ascended to the Massachusetts General Court and became the deciding legislative force
behind the succession of Oak Bluffs. When that happened, Oak Bluffs was born and Edgartown was
seriously changed.

Chilmark appears to have been Flanders’ longtime home, perhaps his primary home, but not his only
home. It’s unclear if this dwelling was a summer house for Flanders, an investment property, or
perhaps maybe even a gift. What is clear is that the dwelling was moved from Circuit Avenue in the
late 19th century—1889 per the MACRIS listing—to Uncas Avenue. Research material from Architect
Doug Ulwick shows where the house was moved from and also shows Flanders on a 19*" Century list of
residents. The Commission has sent a query to the Oak Bluffs Board of Assessors as the MACRIS listing
(executed in 1978) cites tax records as the basis for arriving at the conclusion that this was Stephen
Flanders’ house. If the records can be located, this may further prove Flanders’ ownership.




As Stephen Flanders was a historical figure who appears to bridge three Vineyard towns, one of which
being Chilmark, and with the understanding that the Commission highly values recommendations and
insights from the Vineyard’s Historic Commissions, any written input or opinion the Chilmark Historical
Commission chooses to submit regarding this demolition proposal would be most appreciated.
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Inventory No: OAK.735
Historic Name: Flanders, Stephen House

Common Name:

Address: 3 Uncas Ave
City/Town: Oak Bluffs
Village/Neighborhood: Oak Bluffs;
Local No: 11-156;
Year Constructed: 1874

Architectural Style(s):  Victorian Eclectic;

Use(s): Secondary Dwelling House;
Significance: Architecture; Recreation;

Area(s): OAK.C

Designation(s): Local Historic District (04/08/2003);
Building Materials: Roof: Asphalt Shingle;

Wall: Asphalt Shingle; Wood;

Demolished No

The Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC) has converted this paper record to digital format as part of ongoing projects to scan
records of the Inventory of Historic Assets of the Commonwealth and National Register of Historic Places nominations for
Massachusetts. Efforts are ongoing and not all inventory or National Register records related to this resource may be available in
digital format at this time.

The MACRIS database and scanned files are highly dynamic; new information is added daily and both database records and
related scanned files may be updated as new information is incorporated into MHC files. Users should note that there may be a
considerable lag time between the receipt of new or updated records by MHC and the appearance of related information in
MACRIS. Users should also note that not all source materials for the MACRIS database are made available as scanned images.
Users may consult the records, files and maps available in MHC's public research area at its offices at the State Archives Building,
220 Morrissey Boulevard, Boston, open M-F, 9-5.

Users of this digital material acknowledge that they have read and understood the MACRIS Information and Disclaimer (http://mhc-
macris.net/macrisdisclaimer.htm)

Data available via the MACRIS web interface, and associated scanned files are for information purposes only. THE ACT OF CHECKING THIS
DATABASE AND ASSOCIATED SCANNED FILES DOES NOT SUBSTITUTE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LOCAL, STATE OR
FEDERAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS. IF YOU ARE REPRESENTING A DEVELOPER AND/OR A PROPOSED PROJECT THAT WILL
REQUIRE A PERMIT, LICENSE OR FUNDING FROM ANY STATE OR FEDERAL AGENCY YOU MUST SUBMIT APROJECT NOTIFICATION
FORM TO MHC FOR MHC'S REVIEW AND COMMENT. You can obtain a copy of a PNF through the MHC web site (www.sec.state.ma.us/mhc)
under the subject heading "MHC Forms."
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FORM B - BUILDING In Area no. Form no.
MASSACHUSETTS HISTORICAL COMMISSION () A2V | 1eTS6
Office o1r the Secretary, State House, Boston Nt

. Town Oak Bluffs

Address =24 Uncas Avenue

Name

Present use Seasonal private dwelling

Present owner__ goseph T. (Jr.) and
Carol G. Stewart

. Description:

Date circa 18968 [(&74

To¥ c(ecnds
Source_ Registry—of Deeds-

- = S = = = = = = - o Style Campground

4. Map. Draw sketch of building location Architect

in relation to nearest cross streets and
other buildings. Indicate north. Exterior wall fabric asphalt shingles

Outbuildings (describe)

*OTHER FEATURES: dormers; decorative Other features coyered balcony with

vergeboards with pendent; green decorative posts and brackets:; covered
shingles, white trim. porch, 3 sides, partially enclosed,
with decorative posts and brackets;
Altered  5549itions Date(gee *)

MovedfLypm 152 CirewnX Date [1245- (38F

5. Lot size:
One acre or less X Over one acre
Approximate frontage 30' Circuit Ave. ;

42' Hiawatha Ave.; 42' Uncas Ave.
Approximate distance of building from street

10' Uncas Ave.

6. Recorded by Peter C. Josephs

Qrganizalion o.p.cBistoricdlsSurvey

Date Q/7 /78

g

(over)

Arae Y oIy



7. Original owner (if known) Siteghenn Flanders

Original use seasonal private dwelling 3
I

Subsequent uses (if any) and dates )
8. Themes (check as many as applicable)

Aboriginal Conservation Recreation X

Agricultural Education Religion

Architectural X Exploration/ Sc@ence/_

The Arts settlement invention

Commerce Industry Social/

Communication Military humanitarian :

Community development X Political Transportation )
9. Historical significance (include explanation of themes checked above) )

This house is of the expansive Campgrcund cottage construction,
It is significant as a part of the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Compgg§i30pment
which began soon after the growth and popularity of the Wesleyan Grove
Campground. The development became the secular alternative to the Camp-
ground and flourished as one of the most popular and well known East Coast

summer resorts.

10. Bibliography and/or references (such as local histories, deeds, assessor's records,
early maps, etc.)

-Gak Bluffs Assessor's Maps, 1975; Town Hall, Oak Bluffs, MA
-Registry of Deeds, Dukes County Courthouse, Edgartown, MA

-Henry Beetle Hough, Martha's Vineyvard, Summer Resort, 1835-1935,.




Eric E. Dray, JD, MA
Eric Dray Consulting
71 Prentiss Street
Cambridge, MA 02140
508.566.3797 EricEDray@gmail.com

MEMORANDUM
TO: Martha’s Vineyard Commission
FROM: Eric Dray, Preservation Consultant
DATE: September 17, 2023, revised 10.12.23
RE: Architectural Peer Review - DRI #744, 3 Uncas Avenue, Oak Bluffs

As peer review for the above-captioned DRI, I have been asked to assess the historical and architectural
significance of 3 Uncas Avenue in Oak Bluffs.

A. Historical Significance

3 Uncas Avenue is a representative example of the cottages built within the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf
Company, a company founded in 1866. The Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Company development was
intended as a secular equivalent to Wesleyan Grove Campground and is an extraordinary example of a late-
19" planned resort community built on 75 acres of land that extended from Wesleyan Grove to Nantucket
Sound.

As reported in a 2018 article in the Martha’s Vineyard Quarterly, the development was guided by an 1866
plan drawn up by Robert Morris Copeland, a Boston landscape architect. The article notes that, although
the village of Riverside, Illinois, designed in 1869 by Calvert Vaux and Frederick Law Olmsted, is often
claimed to be the first planned community in America, the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Company
development actually preceded it by 2-3 years, and may hold that honor.! As built out, the Oak Bluffs Land
and Wharf Company development is a unique district of curvilinear streets, numerous parks, and an
outstanding collection of Campground-style cottages.

The cottage at 3 Uncas Avenue is located within the Cottage City Historic District and, as such, is listed on
the State Register of Historic Places. According to the Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC)
Building Form for 3 Uncas Avenue (OAK.735), the house was built in 1874. The Historical Narrative in
the Building Form states:

[The cottage] is significant as part of the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Company development which
began soon after the growth and popularity of the Wesleyan Grove Campground. The development
became the secular alternative to the campground and flourished as one of the most popular and
well-known East Coast summer resorts.

3 Uncas Avenue is also an example of a cottage that was relocated in the later-19™ century. As noted in the
MHC Area Form for the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Development (OAK.C):

! Skip Finley, “Captains of Cottage City: The Men Behind the Boom of the Bluffs,” Martha’s Vineyard Museum
Quarterly, Vol. 59, No. 3, August 2018, p.11-12.

Eric Dray Consulting DRI #744, 3 Uncas Avenue, Oak Bluffs



Later, during the 1880's and '90's, many of the original cottages were moved to other locations and,
especially around Ocean Park, larger and more elaborate homes were built.

That appears to be the case with 3 Uncas Avenue. According to its MHC Building Form (OAK.735), this
cottage was moved in ca. 1889 from 152 Circuit Avenue. This likely refers to the parcel at the west end of
Nashawena Park now identified as 156 Circuit Avenue, on which a considerably larger house was built in
ca. 1900.

B. Architectural Significance

The cottage at 3 Uncas Avenue is a good example of the Campground style. This is a style classification
that is unique to Martha’s Vineyard. Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC) documentation
classifies the cottage as Victorian Eclectic in style. This is a catch-all category that MHC uses for houses
that do not reflect characteristics of styles that they recognize state-wide. As a local style, the MHC does
not include Campground in their list of styles and, as a result, cottages like 3 Uncas Avenue are classified
as Victorian Eclectic. For purposes of this analysis, the cottage at 3 Uncas Avenue should be understood as
an example of the Campground style.

The architectural significance of 3 Uncas Avenue will be assessed through two questions:
1. What portions of the existing building have architectural significance?
Quoting from Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Development Area Form OAK.C:

The architectural style of the private homes within the Land and Wharf Company development
generally followed that of the cottages within the Wesleyan Grove Campground. Although the
Campground had been in operation since 1835, it was not until the 1860s that permanent cottages
were erected on the tent sites. Therefore, designs and construction techniques of cottages within both
Wesleyan Grove and the new development are essentially the same. Cottage designs imitated the
open tent, with the wide double doors opening into a large family room, with window frames and
2nd floor doors most often in the arched Gothic style. Cottagers vied with one another for
elaborateness of decoration, challenging the creativity of the local woodworkers.

In a September 8, 2023 letter to the MVC, the Vice-Chair of the Cottage City Historic District
Commission wrote, “[3 Uncas Avenue], even its current state, offers significant architectural detail
representative of a residential past found throughout Oak Bluffs.” I would argue that it is not just
significant architectural detail that survives, but the overall form of the house is intact, despite a few
minor additions and alterations. The cottage at 3 Uncas Avenue remains a contributing example of
Campground Cottage architecture found throughout the Oak Bluffs Land and Wharf Company
development. Reference is made to Photos 1-7 and Figures 1 and 2 for the following description.

The form of 3 Uncas Avenue consists of a 1 /2-story, gable-front main block with a porch that originally
wrapped around both sides of the main block (Photos 1, 2). That porch was added after this house was
relocated from the west end of Nashawena Park in ca. 1889. It is possible that the original porch was
too delicate to relocate, and it was rebuilt sometime after 1892 when the cottage is first shown on the
1892 Sanborn-Ferris Map without any front porch and before the 1898 Sanborn-Ferris map when it is
shown with a porch that wrapped around both side elevations of the main block (see Figures 1 and 2).
The right side of the porch on the front elevation has since been enclosed, and it appears that portions
of the porch on the right side elevation have been removed. A small, covered balcony is centered in the
second story of the front gable.

Eric Dray Consulting DRI #744, 3 Uncas Avenue, Oak Bluffs



There is an offset, stepped-down, 1 '4-story rear ell followed by a one-story ell with shed roof (Photo
3). These rear ells, or at least the 1 /2-story component, are likely original and both are shown on the
earliest map that shows the cottage in this location (Figure 1). A small porch on the northeast side of the
rear ell, shown on the 1892 map, has been enclosed. The roof form remains intact with its deeply-
projecting open eaves, and low-pitched, shed-roofed wall dormers (i.e. dormers that share the wall plane
of the elevation below).

As Photos 5-7 demonstrate, many of the ornamental features are still in place. The front porch retains
its ornamental details, including the turned posts that rest on chamfered posts, and jigsaw cut scroll
brackets. Also still extant are the unusual triangular cut exposed rafter tails of the porch roof. It is
possible that the original posts and trim may also be extant within the enclosed portion of the porch. The
second-story centered balcony and gable peak also retain their decorative embellishments (Photo 6).

The 2023-8-21 MVC Staff Report states that the cottage has a derelict appearance due to the siding
being taken off. This appears to be only partially accurate. The asbestos siding shown in the 1978
Building Form Photo (Photo 1) has been removed, but in a number of cases, it appears that original
clapboard or flushboard siding beneath is intact. This would not be surprising; in most cases, asbestos
siding was installed over the existing siding. Note, for example, the wood siding visible behind the black
paper in Photos 4-6.

In terms of fenestration, all extant windows appear to be wood, single-glazed, double-hung sash that
may be early if not original windows. Most windows on the main block have a 2/2 muntin pattern. It is
unknown if this cottage also had the paired front doors typical of this cottage style — an analysis of
interior framing would quickly reveal if that was the case.

In terms of the plywood covering of window and door openings on the first story, it is likely that some
of the original or early wood windows and doors lie behind the plywood coverings. These plywood
coverings should be seen as a protective measure, not evidence of the building’s dereliction.

2. What is the relationship of the existing building to its streetscape/neighborhood?*

The visibility of 3 Uncas Avenue is currently obscured by shrubbery. Plant material is not taken into
consideration when reviewing visibility of a building from public ways in local historic districts. Similarly,
the impact this house has on the Circuit Avenue streetscape should be considered without the current
shrubbery.

The cottage at 3 Uncas Avenue is prominently sited at a bend in the road at the northeastern end of Hiawatha
Park (one of the seven parks in the planned community), and is bounded by Hiawatha, Circuit and Uncas
Avenues. The house fronts on Circuit Avenue and should, in my opinion, be understood most importantly
as part of the Circuit Avenue streetscape.

As early Sanborn-Ferris maps show, the Circuit Avenue streetscape was predominantly residential in the
late-19"™ and early-20™ century. Using Sheets 6, 8 and 9 of the 1904 Sanborn-Ferris maps that cover this
stretch of Circuit Avenue as an example, Circuit Avenue was then lined with cottages extending in both
directions from 3 Uncas Avenue, and there were only a few commercial buildings (see Figures 4-6).

There is no question that the character of Circuit Avenue north of 3 Uncas Avenue has subsequently become
more commercial, including the replacement of historic cottages with commercial buildings. The character
of Uncas Avenue south of 3 Uncas Avenue has also changed dramatically (Photos 12, 13). But that is not
the case from 3 Uncas Avenue south along Circuit Avenue.
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This cottage, and the ca. 1900 cottage across the street, 105 Circuit Avenue, serve as the last residential
buildings heading north before turning the bend and entering the more commercial portion of Circuit
Avenue. Conversely, heading south, these two cottages mark the beginning of the residential portion of
Circuit Avenue (Photos 8-11).”

*Note — this Memorandum does not address the significance of the outbuilding located west of the cottage.
This outbuilding is not shown on early-20™ century Sanborn-Ferris maps and may have been built later or
moved to this location. The outbuilding is partially clad in tongue-in-groove or “novelty” siding and does
have the appearance of an early-20™ century building.

2105 Circuit Avenue continues to be classified as residential despite an apparent commercial use on the first floor.

4
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SW (1978 MHC Building Form Photo).
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View of 3 Uncas Avenue from ircuit Avenue, 1ookin,;:,I

hoto 1.
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Photo 2. View of 3 Uncas Avenue from Circuit Avenue, looking SSW (September 2023).

Eric Dray Consulting DRI #744, 3 Uncas Avenue, Oak Bluffs



3 S

Phot 4. View f riht side eleatib from Ciut Avenue, 1ookin éat (Septeber 202).
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Photo 5. View of 3 cas Avenue front porch from icit Avnue, looking SE (September 2023).
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Photo 6. View of 3 Uncas Avenu gable peak from Circuit Avenue, looking south (September 2023).
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Photo 7. View of 3 Uncas Avenue left side porch from ncs Avenue look1ﬁgW (Sebtember 2023).

/ X J

Ix %]

 — o —
Figure 1. Detail of August 1892 Figure 2. Detail of July 1898
Sanborn-Ferris map. Sanborn-Ferris map.
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Figure 3. Photo Locator Di

Photo 8. View fro 113 Circuit Avenue, loking NE, Karro to 3 Uncas Avenue added (September 2023).
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Photo 9. View of Circuit Avenue looking SW, 105 Cir
left (September 2023).
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cuit Avenue at right, 3 Uncas Avenue at

left (September 2023).
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Photo 13. View from 8 Uncas Avenﬂé,. lbok.ing
SW (September 2023). south (September 2023).
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Figure 4. Detail of October 1904 Sanborn-Ferris Map of Cottage City, Sheet 8 (arrow to 3 Uncas Avenue
added).
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Figure 5. Detail of October 1904 Sanborn-Ferris Map of Cottage City, Sheet 6 (arrow to site of 3 Uncas
Avenue added).
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Figure 6. Detall of October 1904 Sanborn—Ferns Map of Cottage City, Sheet 9 (arrow to 51te of 3 Uncas
Avenue added).
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